## **RECEIVED** 04-27-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN **COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV** 

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** 

Appeal No. 15AP000331-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

DANIEL SCOTT KLINKENBERG,

Defendant-Appellant.

**BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONROE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID J. RICE, **PRESIDING** 

> Respectfully submitted, DANIEL SCOTT KLINKENBERG Defendant-Appellant, by, AUGUST LAW OFFICE L.L.C. Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant 10 E. Doty Street, Suite 821 Madison, WI 53703 (608) 204-5804

BY: CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST State Bar No. 1087502

###

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Detective Mark Meyers identified Mr. Klinkenberg as a suspect in this retail theft based on "prior contacts" with Mr. Klinkenberg. Mr. Klinkenberg told his attorney he had never met Detective Meyers. Although trial counsel also represented Mr. Klinkenberg on the case in which that contact occurred, he conducted no independent investigation into the matter. His client's inaccurate testimony on this point resulted in the admission of information prejudicial regarding his client's experience with law enforcement. Does trial counsel's failure to independently investigate the context of Detective Meyers' identification constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?

The trial court answered no.

2. Trial counsel did not discuss possible topics of cross-examination and did not sufficiently warn his client that his version of events might open the door to the admission of prejudicial material. Was trial counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing to do so?

The trial court answered no.

3. Trial counsel elicited testimony from his client that he had never met Detective Meyers. Trial counsel did so even though he knew it was possible that this was inaccurate, never investigated the context of that identification, and knew that by asking the

question he would open the door to prejudicial material. Was trial counsel constitutionally ineffective for eliciting this testimony?

The trial court answered no.

4. Before the jury was given an opportunity to view the videotape of the alleged theft, testimony was presented by the State as to what they should expect to see. Officer Jenna Branigan testified that it was Mr. Klinkenberg on the tape based on what another officer had told her. Was trial counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to this testimony?

The trial court answered no.

5. Was the combined effect of trial counsel's errors sufficient to undermine confidence in the result?

The trial court implicitly answered no.

- 6. Was the evidence sufficient to convict Mr. Klinkenberg beyond a reasonable doubt of misdemeanor retail theft?
- 7. Was the trial court "clearly wrong" to deny a defense challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence during the trial?

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Klinkenberg is not requesting oral argument and the case is not eligible for publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal originates from a conviction obtained after a one-day jury trial. (33:1). That trial was held in Monroe County, the Honorable J. David Rice presiding. *Id.* Mr. Klinkenberg was tried for, and found guilty of, a single count of misdemeanor retail theft contrary to WIS. STAT. § 943.50(1m)(b). (33:208). Specifically, Mr. Klinkenberg was found guilty of taking and carrying away "a laptop computer and/or video camera" held for resale. (22:2).

Mr. Klinkenberg filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (27:1). Undersigned counsel was appointed. (49:1). A timely motion for postconviction relief was filed pursuant to WIS. STATS. §§ 809.30 & 974.02. (35:1). On January 27, 2015, the trial court held a postconviction hearing and, after taking testimony and hearing argument, denied the motion. (46:1). A timely notice of appeal followed. (48:1-2). Mr. Klinkenberg now challenges both the underlying conviction and the denial of his postconviction motion.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **Trial Testimony**

The alleged theft occurred at the Sparta Walmart on December 24, 2012. (33:83). Ms. Kelli Magnus, a member of

store security, testified as to Walmart's internal investigation. (33:81). Ms. Magnus testified that she was unsure of when the alleged theft was discovered. (33:85). She was asked to look into the matter sometime in February of 2013. (33:85). The alleged theft was reported to law enforcement on February 6 of 2013. (33:85). Ms. Magnus did not know why there was a lapse of time between the alleged theft, its discovery, and the report to police, respectively. (33:85).

Walmart's complaint to law enforcement indicated that a "computer and a recorder, video recorder" had been taken. (33:73). At trial, however, Ms. Magnus described the loss in terms of two laptops and a JVC video camera. (33:86). Ms. Magnus testified as to the resale value of these items but gave no other identifying details. (33:92). She testified that items like those allegedly taken were "generally...spider wired or spider wrapped" in order to prevent theft. (33:87). A generic photo of a similar loss-prevention device was shown to the jury. (33:88). That photo represented how Ms. Magnus believed the items in question would have been secured. 33:90.

Ms. Magnus testified that loose spider wrap was found in the automotive section of the store. (33:93). The wrap had not been cut but had been "slipped off" the item or items it was ostensibly securing. (33:94). Ms. Magnus did not know when the spider wrap was discovered in the automotive section and asserted that the security device was usually only removable with an employee's assistance. (33:110; 33:116).

Ms. Magnus' report on the alleged theft was reviewed by Officer Jenna Branigan of the City of Sparta Police Department. (33:71; 33:73). As part of her investigation, Officer Branigan received surveillance footage from the Sparta Walmart. (33:84-85). Officer Branigan described her investigation thusly: "I guess I made sure the video coincided with the statement from Kelli." (33:73).

That video was played for the jury during Ms. Magnus' testimony. (33:97). (Ms. Magnus was actually the second witness, following Officer Branigan. (33:81.)) The video as shown to the jury followed the progress of the alleged suspect from the parking lot, through the store, and then back out to the parking lot. (33:98-107). The State asserted that the video showed the subject placing various items, described as two laptops and a video camera, in his cart while in the electronics section. (33:104).

However, there is a "gap" in the video coverage before the subject is next observed. (33:91). When he is seen next, the subject is in the sporting goods section. (33:105). The cart has only propane tanks in it. (33:106). He appears to place what the State alleged was a laptop case and an "empty" box for a video camera on a counter. (33:106). The individual is ultimately seen paying for the propane tanks and exiting the store. (33:106-109). Officer Branigan testified that the "stolen" items were never recovered. (33:78).

In addition to containing "gaps" in coverage, the quality of the footage is also not "HD." (33:91; 33:104). Both Officer Branigan and Ms. Magnus testified that, in their review of the video, they never witnessed the individual in question "conceal" any items. (33:78; 33:111). However, the State asserted in closing argument that the subject had concealed two computers and a video camera within his jacket before leaving the store. (33:192).

The individual captured on film is wearing a hat and coat. (33:100). He is wearing glasses that cover part of his face. (33:78). Officer Branigan testified that she was unable to see any tattoos or noticeable scars and that she was not sure of the type of eyeglass frame the subject had. (33:78-79). Officer Branigan testified that she was not able to initially identify the subject. (33:74; 33:76). However, she ultimately made an incourt identification of Mr. Klinkenberg based on what she was told by another officer. (33:74). That officer, Detective Mark Meyers, eventually testified that he recognized the subject as Mr. Klinkenberg based on "prior contacts." (33:124). As it turned out, Detective Meyers was basing his identification on one particular contact in question, the details of which were sketched out during the State's rebuttal presentation. (33:142; 33:161-63).

The defense case consisted of a single witness, Mr. Klinkenberg, who denied committing the theft. (33:137).

#### Postconviction Proceedings

Following his conviction, Mr. Klinkenberg ultimately filed a postconviction motion and a supporting brief. (35:1-39; 40:1-16). In that motion and in the supporting brief, Mr. Klinkenberg attacked the effectiveness of trial counsel's representation. (35:5). A postconviction hearing was subsequently held on January 27, 2015. (50:1).

Mr. Klinkenberg presented essentially two issues. First, Mr. Klinkenberg argued that trial counsel was ineffective with respect to his preparation for, and direct-examination of, Mr. Klinkenberg. (35:7). This claim of error stemmed from trial counsel's elicitation of damaging testimony on direct-

examination. (35:7). Mr. Klinkenberg argued that testimony "opened the door" to the admission of prejudicial material and that this could have been avoided by conducting a more adequate investigation and by sufficiently preparing Mr. Klinkenberg to testify. (40:2-3).

Second, Mr. Klinkenberg argued that it was error to not object to an identification of Mr. Klinkenberg that was based on what other individuals had told the witness, Officer Branigan. (35:13). Trial counsel conceded that he should have objected to this testimony. (50:24).

After conducting an evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied the motion on both grounds. (50:75). This appeal followed.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

First, Mr. Klinkenberg raises a number of challenges related to the effectiveness of trial counsel's representation:

Reasonably competent counsel should have conducted an independent investigation into the context of Detective Meyers' identification. That duty exists regardless of what Mr. Klinkenberg told counsel. If anything, Mr. Klinkenberg's statements that the contact in question never occurred actually make it *more* unreasonable not to investigate that story. Trial counsel represented Mr. Klinkenberg on the case in which the disputed contact occurred. He was in a unique position to "double-check" his client's story. He chose not to do so. This is ineffective assistance of counsel.

Reasonably competent counsel should also endeavor to more thoroughly prepare their client to testify. In this case, trial counsel's lack of investigation abetted the failure to prepare his client. In addition, he did not discuss potential topics of cross-examination and did not sufficiently inform his client of what he was well aware of: That if he insisted on denying Detective Meyers' testimony, the context of his prior contact with law enforcement would be admitted into evidence. Trial counsel knew this would be damaging to the defense case. This is ineffective assistance of counsel.

Reasonably competent counsel should also refrain from eliciting testimony that they know will open the door to the admission of prejudicial material when there is no reasonable strategic reason for doing so. In this case, trial counsel invited his client to disavow meeting Detective Meyers despite the fact that he knew this would open the door to prejudicial material and have a damaging impact on the case. This is ineffective assistance of counsel.

Trial counsel also made one other crucial error: Failing to object to the inadmissible testimony of Officer Jenna Branigan regarding her "identification" of Mr. Klinkenberg, which was really just a recitation of what another officer had told her. His failure to object prejudiced Mr. Klinkenberg and constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.

Finally, the evidence in this case was insufficient to convict Mr. Klinkenberg beyond a reasonable doubt as the facts do not support a rational inference that he took and carried away property. Because the evidence was insufficient, the defense motion for a directed verdict should also have been granted.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Determining whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Sanchez*, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 236, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996). An appellate court will not overturn a trial court's findings of fact concerning counsel's conduct and strategy unless the findings are clearly erroneous. *Id.* However, whether counsel's performance was deficient and whether the deficient performance prejudiced the defense are questions of law which this Court reviews de novo without deference to the circuit court. *Id.* at 236-37.

A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is evaluated via the "reasonable doubt standard of review." State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis.2d 493, 504, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). This Court must evaluate the available evidence in the light most favorable to the finding of guilt and ask whether "the trier of facts could, acting reasonably, be so convinced by evidence it had a right to believe and accept as true." Id. (citing Johnson v. State, 55 Wis.2d 144, 148, 197 N.W.2d 760 (1972)). This inquiry focuses on the jury's objective reasonableness, as opposed to the correctness of their verdict. Id. at 508.

A preserved challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is evaluated on direct review with a substantially similar standard: "[W]hether the evidence taken most favorably against the accused is sufficient to support a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Mac Gresens*, 40 Wis.2d 179, 182 N.W.2d 245 (1968). Reversal is warranted when the trial court is "clearly wrong" in its decision to deny a motion

challenging the evidence's sufficiency. *State v. Leach*, 124 Wis.2d 648, 665, 370 N.W.2d 240 (1985).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to independently investigate the context of Detective Meyers' identification.

#### A. Legal standard.

i. Ineffective assistance of counsel.

A criminal defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under both the State and Federal constitution. U.S. CONST. AMEND. VI & XIV; WIS. CONST. ART. 1, § 7 & 8. To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must establish that counsel's performance was deficient and that counsel's deficient performance was prejudicial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). An attorney's performance is deficient if it falls "below objective standards of reasonableness." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 33, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. To prove prejudice, the defendant must show that counsel's deficient performance was "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 20 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694).

Counsel's deficient performance is prejudicial when there is a reasonable probability "that, but for counsel's [deficient performance], the result of the proceeding would have been different," or when counsel's errors "were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 694. A defendant need not be prejudiced by "each deficient act or omission in isolation;" but prejudice may be established by the cumulative effect of counsel's deficient performance. *Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 63.

ii. Duty to conduct independent investigation.

It is well-settled that "counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. ABA Standards codify this duty:

Defense counsel should conduct a prompt investigation of the circumstances of the case and explore all avenues leading to facts relevant to the merits of the case and the penalty in the event of a conviction....The duty to investigate exists regardless of the accused's admissions or statements to defense counsel of facts constituting guilt or the accused's stated desire to plead guilty.

ABA Criminal Justice Standards: Defense Function, Standard 4-4.1 (available online at

http://www.americanbar.org/publications/criminal\_justice\_se\_ction\_archive/crimjust\_standards\_dfunc\_toc.html) (emphasis added). These standards are persuasive authority in assessing trial counsel's performance. *See State v. Harper*, 57 Wis.2d 543, 205 N.W.2d 1 (1973).

Importantly, as the ABA standard indicates, the duty to

investigate exists *regardless* of what the criminal defendant may have told their attorney. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has explicitly ratified this view, holding that an attorney has an independent duty to investigate material facts and cannot rely solely on his or her client's statements. *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis.2d 628, 638, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985).

The facts of *Pitsch* are similar to the fact pattern at issue here. *Pitsch* also involved a criminal defendant accused of theft. *Id.* at 630. The defense strategy was straightforward—an "I did not do it" defense. *Id.* at 643. While the defendant had initially indicated that he did not want to testify, he ultimately chose to take the stand against the advice of his attorney. *Id.* at 637. The Court described the defendant's decision as being made "somewhat to counsel's surprise during the last phases of the trial." *Id.* Although trial counsel had interviewed his client about his prior convictions, he did not independently investigate the matter. *Id.* at 637-38. When the defendant testified, trial counsel elicited testimony about those prior convictions—testimony that turned out to be inaccurate. *Id.* As a result, the door was opened to the admission of otherwise inadmissible, prejudicial material. *Id.* 

Importantly, the Court held that the defendant's statements to his attorney did not excuse trial counsel's failure. *Id.* Trial counsel "should have had reliable information regarding" the matter and "[g]etting this information would not have been difficult." *Id.* Trial counsel had a duty—even though he was not sure his client would testify and even though his client had already made apparent disclosures on the matter—to do his own independent research. Because trial counsel did not, his performance was constitutionally deficient.

Importantly, the duty to investigate is fundamental to the lawyer's *overall* effectiveness. *See Id.* at 638. Trial counsel needs to conduct an adequate investigation in order to adequately counsel their client and to effectively assist the client with important decisions, such as whether or not to testify. *Id.* 

# B. Trial counsel was deficient for not investigating the context of an identification of his client made by law enforcement.

#### i. Factual background.

In this case, trial counsel represented Mr. Klinkenberg contemporaneously on two cases, one of which was this misdemeanor retail theft. (50:4). The other was a felony case in which the State alleged that Mr. Klinkenberg was manufacturing or delivering methamphetamine. (50:4-5). Importantly, the cases were factually linked in a number of ways. First, the underlying allegations stemmed from around the same period of time. (50:6). Second, they were investigated by the same law enforcement agency. (50:7). Third, they both took place in Monroe County. (50:5). Fourth, the State, under at least one investigative theory disclosed to the defense, believed that the retail theft was financially connected to the operation of the methamphetamine business. (50:6). Fifth, and most importantly, one of the officers involved in the methamphetamine case made the identification in this case based on a specific contact with Mr. Klinkenberg in context of the methamphetamine investigation. (50:11-12).

The officer in question was Detective Mark Meyers. (50:11). He was the one who viewed the video and helped

Officer Branigan identify a possible suspect, Mr. Klinkenberg. (35:74). Detective Meyers' involvement was crucial to this case as the other two individuals who viewed the tape during the investigation, Officer Branigan and Ms. Magnus, were unable to independently identify a suspect. Without his involvement, it is questionable whether Mr. Klinkenberg would have been identified as a suspect at all.

The specific grounds for Detective Meyers' identification were apparently undisclosed. However, the pretrial discovery indicated that Detective Meyers was basing his identification on "prior contacts" with Mr. Klinkenberg. (50:47; 50:8). Trial counsel summarized his understanding of Detective Meyers' involvement at the postconviction hearing:

From my understanding, Detective Meyers looked at the video and determined--he identified the individual as Daniel Klinkenberg from prior contacts that he had with Mr. Klinkenberg.

(50:8). Crucially, trial counsel also knew that, aside from the two cases on which he was representing Mr. Klinkenberg, Mr. Klinkenberg had no prior criminal history. (50:49).

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