STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

07-16-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP000331-CR Circuit Court Case No. 2013CM000229

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL SCOTT KLINKENBERG,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONROE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE J. DAVID RICE PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

MONROE COUNTY

By: Kevin D. Croninger

District Attorney

State Bar No. 1065704

COURTHOUSE ROOM 201

112 SOUTH COURT STREET

SPARTA WI 54656

Phone: (608)269-8780 Fax: (608)269-8919

Attorney for the Plaintiff – Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. HAS THE DEFENDANT MET HIS BURDEN OF SHOWING THAT THERE WAS A BREAKDWON IN THE ADVERSERIAL PROCESS WHICH WOULD LEAD TO AN UNDERMINING OF THE CONFIDENCE IN THE RESULT OF THE TRIAL COURT PROCEEDING DUE TO HIS TRIAL COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE:

Trial Court's Position: No.

State's Position: No.

2. WAS THE EVIDENCE INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT OF MISDEMEANOR RETAIL THEFT AND WAS THE TRIAL COURT "CLEARLY WRONG" TO DENY A DEFENSE CHALLENGE TO THE SUFFICIENTY OF THE EVIDENCE DURING THE TRIAL.

Trial Court's Position: No.

State's Position: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither publication of this court's opinion nor oral arguments are necessary in this case. The issues presented are adequately addressed in the brief and under the rules of appellate procedure, publication of this decision is likely not appropriate under Wis. Stat. §809.23

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State does not have any substantial disagreement or dispute with the facts as represented by appellant. A review of the transcripts related to the events in the present case essentially support the facts represented by the appellant.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF HIS TRIAL COUNSEL WHICH LED TO A BREAKDOWN IN THE ADVERSERIAL PROCESS. THE DEFENDANT HAS ALSO FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE EVIDENCE AGAINST HIM WAS INSUFFICIENT FOR HIM TO BE CONVICTED OF THE CRIME CHARGED AND THEREFORE THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT "CLEARLY WRONG" IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION ON THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE.

The defendant has failed to show his trial counsel's performance was deficient because the defendant has failed to show the performance or lack of performance of his trial counsel led to a breakdown in the adversarial process to such a degree that the result of the proceeding in the present case was rendered unreliable. In this case, the defendant was on video during the commission of his crime of theft from the Sparta Wal-Mart. (33:73, 76-77) Given the evidence against him was strong and he has no other means to attempt to escape responsibility for his criminal behavior, he has turned to blaming his attorney for his conviction. See Br. Def. App. The defendant has attempted to point to every minor misstep or mistake of his trial counsel and then argue that those minor missteps or mistakes were catastrophic to his defense. The defendant does all of this while ignoring the fact that he was on video during much of the time he was engaging in the criminal behavior. The defendant claims that these minor mistakes made by his attorney warrant overturning a lawfully achieved verdict. In a final last ditch effort to overturn the lawfully gained conviction for the criminal behavior he engaged in, the defendant also tries to push blame onto the jury and the Trial Court, claiming there was not sufficient evidence to convict him and that the Trial Court was "clearly wrong" to deny the defendant's motion related to insufficiency of the evidence. The defendant makes this claim despite the fact he was on video for much of the criminal activity. Given the defendant was on video for much of the criminal behavior, given any mistake or ineffectiveness did not cause any breakdown in the adversarial process, and given there was more than enough

evidence for the defendant to be found guilty by a reasonable jury, the defendant's appeal should be denied.

A. RELEVANT CASE LAW AND STATUTORY AUTHORITY

The Wisconsin Courts have acknowledged that in relation to ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims, the Wisconsin Constitution affords no further protections to defendants than the United States Constitution. See State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 369 N.W. 2.d 711 (1985). Both Federal and State Courts have found that the real question in reviewing the performance of trial counsel is whether there has been a breakdown in the adversarial process to such a degree that the result of the proceeding is unreliable. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2065 (1984) and *Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 369 N.W. 2d 711 (1985). In other words, assuming all the defendant's claims of ineffective assistance are true, did the alleged ineffectiveness prejudice the defendant so severely that the subsequent result cannot be believed to be reliable. See Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). A Court can and often should make a determination as to prejudice before addressing deficient performance of trial counsel. *Id.* at 697, 2069.

When reviewing the performance of a trial attorney, a Court must apply a level of scrutiny which is highly deferential to the performance of trial counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2065 (1984). This high level of deference has been adopted by the Wisconsin Supreme Court. *See*

State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 636-37, 369 N.W.2d 711, 716 (1985). "It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)

While the real question is whether there has been a breakdown in the adversarial process to such a degree that the result of the proceeding is unreliable, the Court in *Strickland*, did create a two part test as a guideline in determining whether trial counsel has been ineffective. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668, 696, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2069, (1984). This two part test is as follows, "First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient.... Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." *Id.* at 687, 2064. Strategic decisions are not too be second guessed, "Because advocacy is an art and not a science, and because the adversary system requires deference to counsel's informed decisions, strategic choices must be respected in these circumstances if they are based on professional judgment." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 681, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2061, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)

When reviewing the verdict of the jury based on a sufficiency of the evidence challenge, evidence must be look at in the light most favorable to the finding of guilt.

The test is not whether this court or any of the members thereof are convinced [of the defendant's guilt] beyond reasonable doubt, but whether this court can conclude the trier of facts could, acting reasonably, be so convinced by evidence it had a right to believe and accept as true.... The credibility of the witnesses and the weight of the evidence is for the trier of fact. In reviewing the evidence to challenge a finding of fact, we view the evidence in the light most favorable to the finding. Reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence can support a finding of fact and, if more than one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence, the inference which supports the finding is the one that must be adopted....

State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 503-04, 451 N.W.2d 752, 756 (1990), citing State v. Johnson, 55 Wis.2d at 147, 197 N.W.2d 760, quoting Bautista v. State, 53 Wis.2d 218, 223, 191 N.W.2d 725 (1971).

Reversal of a Trial Court's decision on a motion related to sufficiency of the evidence is only appropriate if the Trial Court is "clearly wrong." *State v. Leach*, 124 Wis. 2d 648, 370 N.W. 2d 240 (1985).

B. EVEN IF TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFECIENT THERE WAS NO PREJUDICE TO THE DEFENDANT AS ANY DEFECIENCY IN PERFORMANCE DID NOT RESULT IN A BREAKDOWN OF THE ADVERSERIAL PROCESS

There was not a breakdown in the adversarial process in the defendant's trial because the alleged prejudice cited by the defendant did not have any effect on the determinations of facts the jury needed to make. Essentially, the issues for the jury in the present case were, 1. Is Daniel Klinkenberg the person on the video and 2. Did the person on the video commit the crime alleged?¹ The defendant essentially

_

¹ Obviously the State acknowledges these were not the direct questions asked to the jury in jury instructions. However, the State asserts these two issues are the two issues which from a practical point of view were in contention.

argues that his trial counsel was ineffective because his trial counsel's failures caused significant damage to the defendant's credibility and the defendant asserts his credibility was essential to his defense. The defendant asserts his credibility was essential to his defense despite there being a video for the jury to judge for themselves whether he was the person committing the crimes. Given the importance and reliability of the video in the present case, any deficient performance by trial counsel did not lead to a breakdown in the adversarial process.

i. THE DEFENDANT'S CREDIBILITY DID NOT AFFECT THE JURY'S VERDICT THEREFORE ANY DAMAGE TO HIS CREDIBLITY FROM ALLEGED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE DID NOT PREJUDICE THE DEFENDANT AND CERTAINLY DID NOT LEAD TO A BREAKDOWN IN THE ADVERSERIAL PROCESS

The defendant attempts to draw attention away from the video from the time of the commission of the crime by asserting that separate from the issue for the jury of "Did the person in the video steal anything from Wal-Mart," was an equally important issue of "Is the defendant credible." *See Br. Def. App.* The defendant claims that this is an equally important issue because his defense was "I didn't do it," and his credibility was essential to that defense. *See id.* However, given the existence of the video in the present case, the defendant over exaggerates the importance of his credibility to his defense. While the State would acknowledge credibility is part of any defense of "I didn't do it," when there is a video showing the defendant during the commission of the crime, the defense of "that's not me on

the video," is probably not the most effective strategy. However, such poor strategy does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.

The defendant likely would have gained more ground had he asserted a defense of "that's me on the video but I didn't steal anything." The defendant seems to acknowledge as much. In his brief, the defendant acknowledges that most difficult issue for the jury was likely not "Is the defendant the person on the video?", but rather, did the person on the video actually steal anything from the Sparta Wal-Mart? Yet the defendant fails to acknowledge that the real damage to his credibility was done not by anything his trial counsel did or did not do, but rather was done by the defendant taking the stand and denying he was the person in the video. The defendant damaged his own credibility to such a degree that any alleged ineffective assistance by his trial counsel was negligible and certainly did not cause a breakdown in the adversarial process.

The defendant attempts to avoid responsibility for damaging his own credibility by claiming that an area where his credibility was damaged by ineffective assistance was related to whether or not he had prior contact with Detective Meyers. *See Br. Def. App* The defendant claims this damage was so detrimental that it led to a breakdown in the adversarial process and that this result cannot be trusted. *See id.* The defendant further argues that this damage could have been avoided had trial counsel properly coached the defendant on how to testify and had not asked questions which allowed the State to impeach the defendant about his unreliable memory of contact with Detective Meyers. *See id.*

Again, as argued above, the State presented video evidence of the person engaged in the theft from the Sparta Wal-Mart, defendant's credibility in the present case was not essential to determination of fact by the jury. Rather, the jury was shown a video, observed the defendant in Court and determined he was the person in the video who had committed the crime charged. The defendant than took the stand and claimed the person in the video was not him. Therefore, any failure to prevent damage to the defendant's credibility (i.e. failure to properly coach the defendant as to his testimony, failure to investigate defendant's prior contacts with Detective Meyers, asking questions that opened the door to discussion of the defendant's prior contacts with Detective Meyers and Detective Tester), did not prejudice the defendant. As most criminal trial attorneys would likely recognize, when the State has strong evidence in its case in chief (evidence like the defendant on video during the commission of the crime), relying on the testimony and credibility of the defendant to overcome such a strong presentation is a fool's errand. That is not what trial counsel did here, likely because trial counsel was experienced (having litigated twenty to twenty-five jury trials) (50:26). None of the alleged deficiencies in trial counsel's performance caused breakdown in the adversarial process but rather simply amount to inconsequential side notes to the important facts in the case, (the defendant being on video during the commission of the crime). Any criticism of trial counsel's performance or preparation simply amounts to "second guessing" by the defendant and his appellate counsel. Courts have addressed such second guessing and indicate that such second guessing is not a basis for determining a defendant's trial counsel was ineffective. Given the defendant has failed to show that any damage to his credibility caused by ineffective assistance of counsel caused a breakdown in the adversary process such that the result should not be trusted, the defendant's appeal should be denied.

ii. THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE THE DEFENDANT'S PRIOR CONTACTS WITH DETECTIVE MEYERS NOR WAS HE PREJUDCIED BY TRIAL COUNSEL'S "OPENING OF THE DOOR" IN RELATION TO THE DEFENDANT'S PRIOR CONTACTS WITH DETECTIVE MEYERS.

There was no breakdown in the adversarial process even if trial counsel should have investigated the prior contacts the defendant had with Detective Meyers and avoided "opening the door" to the introduction of the evidence of priors contacts with Detective Meyers. There was no breakdown because these failures should not lead to questioning of the reliability of the outcome of the case as they did not affect in any way the issues that were in question in the case. The defendant claims trial counsel was ineffective because he failed to investigate the prior contacts and because of his failure to investigate, he asked a question that "opened the door" to the defendant being questioned about prior contacts with Detective Meyers. The defendant was not prejudiced by this alleged ineffectiveness because the defendant was on video during the commission of the crime and by the time this alleged ineffectiveness had occurred, the defendant had already destroyed his own credibility by claiming he was not the person on the video.

The defendant was also not prejudiced by the introduction of evidence of his prior contacts with Detective Meyers because prior contacts with Detective Meyers were not an issue for the jury to decide. The jury was not deciding whether the defendant had been investigated by Detective Mark Meyers in the past, nor were they deciding if the defendant was a credible person or had a good memory. Essentially, the issues for the jury in the present case were, 1. Is Daniel Klinkenberg the person on the video and 2. Did the person on the video commit the crime alleged?² The defendant's credibility during his testimony would have no effect on what the jurors can see plainly in Court, that being the video of the suspect and the defendant present in person in Court. Therefore, as argued above, the defendant's credibility was not really at issue in relation to whether or not he was the person on the video, as the jury was going to be able to view the video and look at the defendant in Court and decide for themselves whether he was the person in the video, thus his credibility was inconsequential. Additionally, any damage to said credibility did not cause a breakdown in the adversarial process because it could not have possibly been essential to the defense. Furthermore, the jury did not hear that Detective Meyers had previously investigated the defendant until after the video had been shown and until after the defendant had taken to the stand and denied he was the person in the video. See (33:76-79, 121-131, 137-161) By that point in time, the defendant's credibility was already destroyed and there was nothing his trial counsel could do to either save it or damage it further.

-

² See footnote 1 above.

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